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Jesse Newmark (SBN 247488) 
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3022 International Blvd., Suite 410 
Oakland, CA 94601 
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Attorneys for Plaintiffs and Relators and the Certified Classes 
 
 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

SACRAMENTO DIVISION 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, ex rel. 
DENIKA TERRY, ROY HUSKEY III, and 
TAMERA LIVINGSTON, and each of them for 
themselves individually, and for all other persons 
similarly situated and on behalf of the UNITED 
STATES OF AMERICA 
 
 Plaintiffs/Relators, 
 
vs. 
 
WASATCH ADVANTAGE GROUP, LLC, 
WASATCH PROPERTY MANAGEMENT, INC., 
WASATCH POOL HOLDINGS, LLC, 
CHESAPEAKE APARTMENT HOLDINGS, LLC, 
LOGAN PARK APARTMENTS, LLC, LOGAN 
PARK APARTMENTS, LP, ASPEN PARK 
HOLDINGS, LLC, BELLWOOD JERRON 
HOLDINGS, LLC, BELLWOOD JERRON 
APARTMENTS, LP, BENT TREE 
APARTMENTS, LLC, CALIFORNIA PLACE 
APARTMENTS, LLC, CAMELOT LAKES 

Case No.: 2:15-CV-00799-KJM-DB  
 

FIFTH AMENDED CLASS ACTION 
COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES AND 
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF, AND FOR RELIEF 
PURSUANT TO FALSE CLAIMS ACT 
 
CLASS ACTION 
 
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 
 
Trial Date: None Set 
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HOLDINGS, LLC, CANYON CLUB HOLDINGS, 
LLC, COURTYARD AT CENTRAL PARK 
APARTMENTS, LLC, CREEKSIDE HOLDINGS, 
LTD, HAYWARD SENIOR APARTMENTS, LP, 
HERITAGE PARK APARTMENTS, LP, OAK 
VALLEY APARTMENTS, LLC, OAK VALLEY 
HOLDINGS, LP, PEPPERTREE APARTMENT 
HOLDINGS, LP, PIEDMONT APARTMENTS, 
LP, POINT NATOMAS APARTMENTS, LLC, 
POINT NATOMAS APARTMENTS, LP, RIVER 
OAKS HOLDINGS, LLC, SHADOW WAY 
APARTMENTS, LP, SPRING VILLA 
APARTMENTS, LP, SUN VALLEY HOLDINGS, 
LTD, VILLAGE GROVE APARTMENTS, LP, 
WASATCH QUAIL RUN GP, LLC, WASATCH 
PREMIER PROPERTIES, LLC, WASATCH 
POOL HOLDINGS III, LLC, 
and DOES 1-4, 
 Defendants. 
 

Case 2:15-cv-00799-KJM-DB   Document 136   Filed 08/17/21   Page 2 of 215



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

 

 

1 
FIFTH AMENDED COMPLAINT - CASE NO. 2:15-CV-00799 KJM-DB 

830228.4 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 

Qui tam plaintiffs and proposed class representatives DENIKA TERRY, ROY HUSKEY III, 

and TAMERA LIVINGSTON (“Plaintiffs”) demand a trial by jury. Plaintiffs DENIKA TERRY, ROY 

HUSKEY III, and TAMERA LIVINGSTON on behalf of themselves and those similarly situated, 

allege as follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. Plaintiffs seek to represent a class of past, present, and prospective tenants of 

Defendants Wasatch Advantage Group, LLC, Wasatch Property Management, Inc., Wasatch Pool 

Holdings, LLC, Chesapeake Apartment Holdings, LLC, Logan Park Apartments, LLC, Logan Park 

Apartments, LP, Aspen Park Holdings, LLC, Bellwood Jerron Apartments, LLC, Bellwood Jerron 

Apartments, LP, Bent Tree Apartments, LLC, California Place Apartments, LLC, Camelot Lakes 

Holdings, LLC, Canyon Club Holdings, LLC, Courtyard at Central Park Apartments, LLC, 

Creekside Holdings, LTD, Hayward Senior Apartments, LP, Heritage Park Apartments, LP, Logan 

Park Apartments, LP, Oak Valley Apartments, LLC, Oak Valley Holdings, LP, Peppertree 

Apartment Holdings, LP, Piedmont Apartments, LP, Point Natomas Apartments, LLC, Point 

Natomas Apartments, LP, River Oaks Holdings, LLC, Shadow Way Apartments, LP, Spring Villa 

Apartments, LP, Sun Valley Holdings, LTD, Village Grove Apartments, LP, Wasatch Quail Run 

GP, LLC, Wasatch Premier Properties, LLC, and Wasatch Pool Holdings III, LLC and Does 1-4 

(“Defendants”). 

2. Defendants own, rent, and/or manage residential apartment units throughout the 

western United States, including properties in California, Utah, Arizona and Washington. 

3. Defendants’ properties include the Logan Park and Chesapeake Commons 

apartment communities located at 4141 Palm Avenue, Sacramento, CA 95842 (“Palm Avenue 

Property”) and 3600 Data Drive, Rancho Cordova, CA 95670 (“Data Drive Property”). 

4. At all times relevant to this Complaint, Denika Terry was Defendants’ tenant at 

Apartment No. 391 of the Data Drive Property. 

5. At all times relevant to this Complaint, Roy Huskey III was Defendants’ tenant at 

Apartment No. 191 of the Palm Avenue Property. 
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6. At all times relevant to this Complaint, Tamera Livingston was Defendants’ tenant 

at Apartment No. 491 of the Data Drive Property. 

7. Defendants rent hundreds of apartments at their properties to tenants who receive 

rental assistance through the federally subsidized Housing Choice Voucher Program, commonly 

known as “Section 8.” The Section 8 program provides that a participating tenant, renting privately 

owned housing, pays generally between 30 and 40 percent of their adjusted monthly income 

toward the rent and utility costs, while the federal government and local housing agencies pay the 

balance of the rent directly to the property owner. 

8. At the Data Drive and Palm Avenue Properties alone, there are more than one 

hundred Section 8 tenants. 

9. The certified Class includes over 2,000 class members. All are Section 8 tenants 

who have lived at one or more of Defendants’ properties in California, at relevant times. There are 

likely hundreds more Section 8 tenants across Defendants’ properties outside of California. 

10. At all times relevant to this Complaint, Defendants and local public housing 

agencies, such as the Sacramento County Housing and Redevelopment Agency, were parties to 

standard form Housing Assistance Payments Contracts (“HAP Contracts”) mandated by the U.S. 

Department of Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”) pursuant to the Section 8 program. 

These HAP Contracts include a standard form Tenancy Addendum. Defendants and Plaintiffs were 

parties to rental contracts incorporating the Tenancy Addendum. 

11. As part of their usual course of business, Defendants violated and continue to 

violate federal and state laws by demanding additional monthly rental payments from Plaintiffs and 

Defendants’ other Section 8 tenants, in excess of the tenants’ portion of the rent due under their 

HAP Contracts and Tenancy Addendums, and in violation of those HAP Contracts, Tenancy 

Addendums, and HUD regulations. 

12. These additional payment demands include rental charges for washers and dryers, 

renter’s insurance, parking (covered and uncovered), garage rental, storage space rental, month-to-

month lease fees, “Rent Plus” (a credit reporting service), pest and bedbug control, pet rent and 

other pet fees, and internet and cable service. Plaintiffs continue to review documents recently 
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produced by Defendants in discovery to ascertain whether Defendants unlawfully charged Section 

8 tenants additional rental charges. 

13. Defendants have a policy and practice of treating theses additional charges as rent 

and violating Section 8 tenants’ HAP Contracts, Tenancy Addendums, HUD regulations, and 

federal law. Specifically, Defendants: use tenant payments for contract rent to first pay for any 

additional charges due; combine contract rent and additional charges in standard forms informing 

tenants of their total “rental rate” and threatening to evict tenants for being in default under the 

rental agreement in that aggregate amount; deduct any unpaid additional charges from tenants’ 

security deposits; treat a failure to pay additional charges as a breach of the lease and grounds to 

terminate tenancy; threaten and in fact evict tenants for failure to pay additional charges; and 

require tenants to agree to certain additional monthly charges, as a condition of leasing. 

14. Through these unlawful actions, Defendants knowingly presented false and 

fraudulent claims for payment of approval to the United States and local public housing agencies, 

including the Sacramento County Housing and Redevelopment Agency. These actions by the 

Defendants have caused the United States and local public housing agencies to suffer economic 

damages. 

15. This action is brought in part under the United States False Claim Acts, 31 U.S.C. 

§§ 3729 et seq.  Plaintiffs seek all and any statutory share of any award made to the United States.  

The United States seeks all remedies available under the False Claims Act. 

PARTIES 

16. Defendants own and manage, or at relevant times have owned and managed, 69 

apartment communities with 16,344 units across five western states: California, Utah, Arizona, 

Colorado, and Washington. These properties range in size from 40 units to 661 units. 

17. Defendants were the owners and property managers, or the agents or employees of 

the owners and property managers, of the Subject Properties (defined as all properties managed by 

Defendant Wasatch Property Management during all relevant times in this action and that had one 

or more Section 8 tenants who were charged additional rent amounts beyond the amounts set forth 

in the HAP contracts), during all time periods relevant herein. 
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18. Defendants owned, controlled, and managed the Subject Properties, including 

renting the apartment units at the Properties. 

19. Defendant Wasatch Advantage Group, LLC, is a limited liability corporation, 

registered with the Secretary of State to do business in the State of California. Defendant Wasatch 

Advantage Group, LLC, is an entity used by Defendants to own and/or manage properties 

including the Palm Avenue Property. Wasatch Advantage Group approved the sale of properties 

owned by Defendants Logan Park Apartments, LP,  Logan Park Apartments, LLC, Oak Valley 

Apartments, LP, Oak Valley Apartments LLC, Bellwood Jerron Apartments, LP, Bellwood Jerron 

Holdings LLC, Point Natomas Apartments, LP, and Point Natomas Apartments, LLC.  

20. Defendant Chesapeake Apartment Holdings, LLC, is a limited liability corporation, 

registered with the Secretary of State to do business in the State of California. Defendant 

Chesapeake Apartment Holdings is a signatory party to the September 20, 2010 HAP Contract for 

Plaintiff Denika Terry. A true and accurate copy of this HAP Contract is attached to the Complaint 

as Exhibit A. Upon information and belief, Defendant Chesapeake Apartment Holdings is also a 

signatory party to the HAP Contract for Plaintiff Tamera Livingston. 

21. Defendant Wasatch Property Management, Inc., is a corporation, registered with the 

Secretary of State to do business in the State of California. Defendant Wasatch Property 

Management is a party to the June 30, 2011 Residential Rental Agreement with Plaintiff Roy 

Huskey III. A true and correct copy of this lease agreement is an attachment to the HAP Contract 

attached to the Complaint as Exhibit E. Defendant Wasatch Property Management is also a party to 

the Residential Rental Agreement with Plaintiff Tamera Livingston. A true and correct copy of this 

lease agreement is an attachment to the Complaint as Exhibit L. Defendant Wasatch Property 

Management also provided the Resident Ledgers for Plaintiffs Denika Terry, Roy Huskey III, and 

Tamera Livingston setting forth rents received, as well as the additional, unlawful rental charges 

for “Washer/Dryer Rental,” “Rental Insurance,” and “Covered Parking.” True and accurate copies 

of the Resident Ledgers are attached to the Complaint as Exhibits B and F and M. In addition, the 

HAP Contracts for Plaintiffs Denika Terry and Roy Huskey III direct that payments be mailed 

“cared of” Defendant Wasatch Property Management. (Exhs. A & E.) Upon information and belief, 
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the HAP Contract for Plaintiff Tamera Livingston also directs that payments be mailed “cared of” 

Defendant Wasatch Property Management. 

22. Both Defendants Chesapeake Apartment Holdings and Wasatch Property 

Management, Inc., received August 18, 2011 and/or August 10, 2012 Subsidy Adjustment Notices 

from the Sacramento Housing and Redevelopment Agency for Plaintiff Denika Terry. True and 

accurate copies of these notices are attached to the Complaint as Exhibits C and D. 

23. Both Defendants Chesapeake Apartment Holdings and Wasatch Property 

Management, Inc., received December 9, 2014 and/or March 13, 2017 Subsidy Adjustment Notices 

from the Sacramento Housing and Redevelopment Agency for Plaintiff Tamera Livingston. 

24. Defendant Logan Park Apartments, LLC, is a limited liability corporation, 

registered with the Secretary of State to do business in the State of California. Defendant Logan 

Apartments, LP, is a limited partnership, registered with the Secretary of State to do business in the 

State of California. Defendant Logan Park Apartments, LLC and Defendant Logan Apartments, LP 

is or was an entity used by Defendants to own/manage properties including Logan Park 

Apartments, located at 4141 Palm Avenue, Sacramento, CA 95842.  Logan Park Apartments is 

party to both the July 8, 2011 HAP Contract and July 30, 2011 Residential Rental Agreement for 

Plaintiff Roy Huskey III. (Exh. E). Based on documents produced by Defendants, Plaintiffs believe 

that Logan Park Apartments, LLC was an administrative general partner of Logan Park 

Apartments, LP, but that Defendants sold their interest in 2015 to a third party. The directors of 

Defendant Wasatch Advantage Group approved the sale. The allegations contained in this action 

pertain to the period in which Defendant Wasatch Property Management managed the Logan Park 

Apartment property.   Defendants have informed Plaintiffs that liability of Defendant Logan Park 

LLC for all actions including the conduct alleged here did not transfer in the 2015 sale. 

25. Defendant Wasatch Pool Holdings, LLC, is a limited liability corporation, registered 

with the Secretary of State to do business in the State of California. Defendant Wasatch Pool 

Holdings is an entity used by Defendants to own and/or manage properties including the Data 

Drive Property. 

26. Defendant Aspen Park Holdings, LLC is a limited liability corporation registered 
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with the Secretary of State to do business in the State of California. Defendant Aspen Park 

Holdings, LLC is an entity used by Defendants to own/manage properties including Aspen Park 

Apartments, located at 5152 Mack Road, Sacramento, CA 95823. Upon information and belief, 

Defendant Aspen Park Holdings, LLC is a party to Residential Rental Agreements with one or 

more Class members and is a party to HAP Contracts for one or more Class members. 

27. Defendant Bellwood Jerron Apartments, LP is a limited partnership registered with 

the Secretary of State to do business in the State of California. Defendant Bellwood Jerron 

Apartments, LLC is a limited liability corporation formerly registered with the Secretary of State to 

do business in the State of California. Defendant Bellwood Jerron Apartments, LP is or was an 

entity used by Defendants to own/manage properties including Bellwood Park Apartments, located 

at 339 Bell Avenue, Sacramento, CA 95838, and Jerron Place, located at 1730 Jerron Place, 

Sacramento, CA 95825. Upon information and belief, Defendant Bellwood Park Apartments, LP is 

or was a party to Residential Rental Agreements for one or more Class members and is or was a 

party to HAP Contracts for one or more Class members during all relevant times. Based on 

documents produced by Defendants, Plaintiffs believe that Bellwood Jerron Apartments, LLC was 

an administrative general partner of Bellwood Jerron Apartments, LP, but that Defendants sold 

their interest in 2015 to a third party. The directors of Defendant Wasatch Advantage Group 

approved the sale. Bellwood Jerron, LLC’s registration has been cancelled with the Secretary of 

State. The allegations contained in this action pertain to the period in which Defendant Wasatch 

Property Management managed the Bellwood Park and Jerron Place properties. Defendants have 

informed Plaintiffs that liability of Bellwood Jerron, LLC for all actions including the conduct 

alleged here did not transfer in the 2015 sale.  

28. Defendant Bent Tree Apartments, LLC is a limited liability corporation registered 

with the Secretary of State to do business in the State of California. Defendant Bent Tree 

Apartments, LLC is an entity used by Defendants to own/manage properties including Bent Tree 

Apartments, located at 4350 Galbraith Drive, Sacramento, CA 95842. Upon information and belief, 

Defendant Bent Tree Apartments, LLC is a party to Residential Rental Agreements with one or 

more Class members and is a party to HAP Contracts for one or more Class members. 

Case 2:15-cv-00799-KJM-DB   Document 136   Filed 08/17/21   Page 8 of 215



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

 

 

7 
FIFTH AMENDED COMPLAINT - CASE NO. 2:15-CV-00799 KJM-DB 

830228.4 

29. Defendant California Place Apartments, LLC is a limited liability corporation 

registered with the Secretary of State to do business in the State of California. Defendant California 

Place Apartments, LLC is an entity used by Defendants to own/manage properties including 

California Place Apartments, located at 6633 Valley Hi Drive, Sacramento, CA 95823. Upon 

information and belief, Defendant California Place Apartments, LLC is a party to Residential 

Rental Agreements with one or more Class members and is a party to HAP Contracts for one or 

more Class members. 

30. Defendant Camelot Lakes Holdings, LLC is a limited liability corporation formerly 

registered with the Secretary of State to do business in the State of California and currently 

registered with the Secretary of State of Utah to do business in that state. Defendant Camelot Lake 

Holdings, LLC is or was an entity used by Defendants to own/manage properties including 

Landing at Fancher Creek, 921 North Peach Avenue, Fresno, CA 93725. Upon information and 

belief, Defendant Camelot Lake Holdings, LLC is or was a party to Residential Rental Agreements 

with one or more Class members and is or was a party to HAP Contracts for one or more Class 

members during all relevant times. Defendants have informed Plaintiffs that Camelot Lakes 

Holdings, LLC sold its California properties and subsequently cancelled its registration with the 

Secretary of State. Defendant Camelot Lakes Holdings, LLC continues to own properties managed 

by Wasatch Property Management, LLC in Utah. The allegations contained in this action pertain to 

the period in which Defendants owned or managed the Landing at Fancher Creek property.    

31. Defendant Canyon Club Holdings, LLC is a limited liability corporation registered 

with the Secretary of State to do business in the State of California. Defendant Canyon Club 

Holdings, LLC is an entity used by Defendants to own/manage properties including Canyon Club 

Apartments, located at 305 North Canyon Drive, Oceanside, CA 92058. Upon information and 

belief, Defendant Canyon Club Holdings, LLC is a party to Residential Rental Agreements with 

one or more Class members and is a party to HAP Contracts for one or more Class members. 

32. Defendant Courtyard at Central Park Apartments, LLC is a limited liability 

corporation registered with the Secretary of State to do business in the State of California. 

Defendant Courtyard at Central Park Apartments, LLC is an entity used by Defendants to 
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own/manage properties including Courtyard at Central Park, located at 4488 North Cornelia Ave., 

Fresno, CA 93722. Upon information and belief, Defendant Courtyard at Central Park Apartments 

is a party to Residential Rental Agreements with one or more Class members and is a party to HAP 

Contracts for one or more Class members. 

33. Defendant Creekside Holdings, LTD, is a limited partnership registered with the 

Secretary of State to do business in the State of California. Defendant Creekside Holdings, LTD is 

an entity used by Defendants to own/manage properties including Creekside Villa Apartments, 

located at 4625 Nogal Street, San Diego, CA 92102. Upon information and belief, Defendant 

Creekside Holdings, LTD is a party to Residential Rental Agreements with one or more Class 

members and is a party to HAP Contracts for one or more Class members. 

34. Defendant Hayward Senior Apartments, LP is a limited partnership registered with 

the Secretary of State to do business in the State of California. Defendant Hayward Senior 

Apartments, LP is an entity used by Defendants to own/manage properties including Hayward 

Village, located at 22078 Arbor Avenue, Hayward, CA 94541. Upon information and belief, 

Defendant Hayward Senior Apartments, LP is a party to Residential Rental Agreements with one 

or more Class members and is a party to HAP Contracts for one or more Class members. 

35. Defendant Heritage Park Apartments, LP is a limited partnership corporation 

registered with the Secretary of State to do business in the State of California. Defendant Heritage 

Park Apartments, LP is an entity used by Defendants to own/manage properties including Heritage 

Park Apartments, located at 2665 Clark Avenue, Norco, CA 92860. Upon information and belief, 

Defendant Heritage Park Apartments is a party to Residential Rental Agreements with one or more 

Class members and is a party to HAP Contracts for one or more Class members. 

36. Defendant Oak Valley Apartments, LLC is a limited liability corporation formerly 

registered with the Secretary of State to do business in the State of California. Defendant Oak 

Valley Apartments, LLC is or was an entity used by Defendants to own/manage properties 

including Oak Valley Apartments, located at 5520 Harrison Street, North Highlands, CA 95660. 

Upon information and belief, Oak Valley Apartments, LLC is or was a party to Residential Rental 

Agreements with one or more Class members and is or was a party to HAP Contracts for one or 
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more Class members during all relevant times. Based on documents produced by Defendants, 

Plaintiffs believe that Oak Valley Apartments, LLC was an administrative general partner of Oak 

Valley Apartments, LP, but that Defendants sold their interest in 2015 to a third party. The 

directors of Defendant Wasatch Advantage Group approved the sale. Defendants have informed 

Plaintiffs that Oak Valley Apartments LLC sold its properties in California and its registration was 

cancelled with the Secretary of State. The allegations contained in this action pertain to the period 

in which Defendant Wasatch Property Management managed the Oak Valley Apartments property. 

Defendants have informed Plaintiffs that liability of Defendant Oak Valley Apartments, LLC for 

all actions including the conduct alleged here did not transfer in the 2015 sale. 

37. Defendant Oak Valley Holdings, LP is a limited partnership registered with the 

Secretary of State to do business in the State of California. Defendant Oak Valley Holdings, LP is 

or was an entity used by Defendants to own/manage properties including Bridges at Five Oaks, 

located at 5520 Harrison Street, North Highlands, CA 95660. Upon information and belief, Oak 

Valley Holdings, LP is or was a party to Residential Rental Agreements with one or more Class 

members and is or was a party to HAP Contracts for one or more Class members during all 

relevant times. Based on documents produced by Defendants, Plaintiffs believe that Defendants 

sold their interests in Bridges at Five Oaks in 2015. The directors of Defendant Wasatch Advantage 

Group approved the sale. The allegations contained in this action pertain to the period in which 

Defendant Wasatch Property Management managed the Bridges at Five Oaks property.    

38. Defendant Peppertree Apartment Holdings, LP is a limited partnership registered 

with the Secretary of State to do business in the State of California. Defendant Peppertree 

Apartment Holdings, LP is an entity used by Defendants to own/manage properties including 

Peppertree Senior Apartments, located at 4956 Harness Street, Spring Valley, CA 91977. Upon 

information and belief, Peppertree Apartment Holdings, LP is a party to Residential Rental 

Agreements with one or more Class members and is a party to HAP Contracts for one or more 

Class members. 

39. Defendant Piedmont Apartments, LP is a limited partnership registered with the 

Secretary of State to do business in the State of California. Defendant Piedmont Apartments, LP is 
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an entity used by Defendants to own/manage properties including Piedmont Apartments, located at 

215 West MacArthur Boulevard, Oakland, 94611. Upon information and belief, Piedmont 

Apartments, LP is a party to Residential Rental Agreements with one or more Class members and 

is a party to HAP Contracts for one or more Class members. 

40. Defendant Point Natomas Apartments, LP is a limited partnership registered with 

the Secretary of State to do business in the State of California. Defendant Point Natomas 

Apartments, LLC, was a limited liability corporation formerly registered with the Secretary of 

State to d business in the State of California. Defendant Point Natomas Apartments, LP is or was 

an entity used by Defendants to own/manage properties including Point Natomas Apartments, 

located at 801 San Juan Road, Sacramento, CA 95834. Upon information and belief, Point 

Natomas Apartments is or was a party to Residential Rental Agreements with one or more Class 

members and is or was a party to HAP Contracts for one or more Class members during all 

relevant times. Based on documents produced by Defendants, Plaintiffs believe that Defendant 

Point Natomas Apartments, LLC, was an administrative general partner of Point Natomas 

Apartments, LP, but that Defendants sold their interest in 2015 to a third party. The directors of 

Defendant Wasatch Advantage Group approved the sale. The allegations contained in this action 

pertain to the period in which Defendant Wasatch Property Management managed the Point 

Natomas Apartments property.   Defendants have informed Plaintiffs that liability of Defendant 

Point Natomas LLC for all actions including the conduct alleged here did not transfer in the 2015 

sale. 

41. Defendant River Oaks Holdings, LLC is a limited liability corporation registered 

with the Secretary of State to do business in the State of California. Defendant River Oaks 

Holdings, LLC is an entity used by Defendants to own/manage properties including River Oaks 

Apartments, located at 580 West Fargo Avenue, Hanford, CA 93230. Upon information and belief, 

River Oaks Holdings, LLC is a party to Residential Rental Agreements with one or more Class 

members and is a party to HAP Contracts for one or more Class members. 

42. Defendant Shadow Way Apartments, LP is a limited partnership registered with the 

Secretary of State to do business in the State of California. Defendant Shadow Way Apartments, 
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LP is an entity used by Defendants to own/manage properties including Shadow Way Apartments, 

located at 4707 Yuma Avenue, Oceanside, CA 92057. Upon information and belief, Shadow Way 

Apartments, LP is a party to Residential Rental Agreements with one or more Class members and 

is a party to HAP Contracts for one or more Class members. 

43. Defendant Spring Villa Apartments, LP is a limited partnership registered with the 

Secretary of State to do business in the State of California. Defendant Spring Villa Apartments, LP 

is an entity used by Defendants to own/manage properties including Spring Villa Apartments, 

located at 8768 Jamacha Road, Spring Valley, CA 91977. Upon information and belief, Spring 

Villa Apartments, LP is a party to Residential Rental Agreements with one or more Class members 

and is a party to HAP Contracts for one or more Class members. 

44. Defendant Sun Valley Holdings, LP is a limited partnership registered with the 

Secretary of State to do business in the State of California. Defendant Sun Valley Holdings, LP is 

an entity used by Defendants to own/manage properties including Sun Valley Apartments, located 

at 4719 50th Avenue, Sacramento, CA 95823. Upon information and belief, Sun Valley Holdings, 

LP is a party to Residential Rental Agreements with one or more Class members and is a party to 

HAP Contracts for one or more Class members. 

45. Defendant Village Grove Apartments, LP is a limited partnership registered with the 

Secretary of State to do business in the State of California. Defendant Village Grove Apartments, 

LP is an entity used by Defendants to own/manage properties including Village Grove Apartments, 

located at 660 North Quince Street, Escondido, CA 92025. Upon information and belief, Village 

Grove Apartments, LP is a party to Residential Rental Agreements with one or more Class 

members and is a party to HAP Contracts for one or more Class members. 

46. Defendant Wasatch Quail Run GP, LLC is a limited liability corporation formerly 

registered with the Secretary of State to do business in the State of California. Defendant Wasatch 

Quail Run GP, LLC is or was an entity used by Defendants to own/manage properties including 

Quail Run Apartments, located at 1016 Bellevue Avenue, Santa Rosa, CA 95407. Upon 

information and belief, Wasatch Quail Run GP, LLC is or was a party to Residential Rental 

Agreements with one or more Class members and is or was a party to HAP Contracts for one or 
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more Class members during all relevant times. Defendants have informed Plaintiffs that Wasatch 

Quail Run GP sold its properties in California and its registration with the Secretary of State was 

cancelled. The allegations contained in this action pertain to the period in which Defendant 

Wasatch Property Management managed the Quail Run Apartments property. 

47. Defendant Wasatch Premier Properties, LLC is a limited liability corporate 

registered in Utah. Defendant Wasatch Premier Properties is the sole owner of Wasatch Pool 

Holdings and is a privately held real estate investment trust that has owned and/or managed at least 

11 properties in California including Defendant Oak Valley Holdings LP during relevant times. Its 

agent is located at 16027 Aviara Parkway, Suite 220, Carlsbad, CA 92011. Because Defendant 

Wasatch Premier Properties engages in regular business in California and has continuous and 

systematic contacts with California, it is subject to California laws and jurisdiction in California 

courts.   

48. Defendant Wasatch Pool Holdings III, LLC is a limited liability corporation 

registered in Utah. Defendant Wasatch Pool Holdings III is a wholly owned subsidiary of Wasatch 

Pool Holdings. Because Defendant Wasatch Pool Holdings III engages in regular business in 

California and has continuous and systematic contacts with California, it is subject to California 

laws and jurisdiction in California courts.   

49. Plaintiff Denika Terry resides in California, and is a single mother of two minor 

children. Denika Terry suffers from a disability as defined by state and federal law in that she 

suffers from bipolar disorder. At all times relevant to this action, Denika Terry’s sole sources of 

income were public assistance totaling approximately $4,408 per year for her and her two minor 

children. Because of her extremely limited income, Denika Terra received Section 8 rental 

assistance. 

50. Plaintiff Roy Huskey III resides in California, and is a single father of one minor 

child. At all times relevant to this Complaint, Roy Huskey III’s sole sources of income was public 

assistance totaling approximately $15,624 per year for him and his child. Because of his extremely 

limited income, Roy Huskey III received Section 8 rental assistance. 

51. Plaintiff Tamera Livingston resides in Rancho Cordova, CA. 
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52. Plaintiff the United States of America is ex rel. Denika Terry, Roy Huskey III and 

Tamera Livingston. 

JURISDICTION 

53. This court has federal subject matter jurisdiction because Plaintiffs bring this 

Complaint pursuant to the United States False Claim Acts, 31 U.S.C. §§ 3729 et seq. 

54. Venue is proper in this court because Defendants do business in its jurisdictional 

area, and the alleged unlawful conduct and damage to Plaintiffs, as well as the making of the 

contracts which are the subject of this action, occurred within its jurisdictional area. 

HOUSING CHOICE VOUCHER PROGRAM (“SECTION 8”) 

55. The Housing Choice Voucher Program is a federal program intended to assist low-

income families in obtaining decent, safe, sanitary, and affordable housing. The Program is 

authorized by Section 8 of the U.S. Housing Act of 1937, 42 U.S.C. § 1437f. Regulations 

governing the Section 8 program are contained in 24 C.F.R. Part 982. 

56. The United States Department of Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”) 

administers the Section 8 program. HUD enters into annual contribution contracts with local public 

housing agencies such as the Sacramento Housing and Redevelopment Agency. 

57. Pursuant to the annual contribution contract, the local public housing agency may 

enter into a HUD form contract, or Housing Assistance Payments Contract (“HAP Contract”), with 

the landlord of a dwelling unit to make monthly housing assistance payments on behalf of an 

eligible tenant family. Generally, participating tenant families pay 30 to 40 percent of their adjusted 

monthly income toward the rent and utilities, while the public housing agency pays the balance. 

58. The HAP Contract contains federally-mandated terms and is on a HUD form. The 

HAP Contract continues until its expiration or termination by the owners, the participant family, or 

the public housing agency. 

59. The HAP Contract includes a Tenancy Addendum and/or Lease Supplemental 

Agreement that constitute the residential lease agreement between the landlord and tenant. If the 

landlord also provides a separate lease form to the tenant, that form must be approved by the public 

housing agency. The terms of the Tenancy Addendum and Lease Supplement Agreement are 
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incorporated into and expressly supersede those of any separate lease form in the event of 

conflicting provisions. (Exh. E at 1.) 

60. The HAP Contract for a particular dwelling unit establishes the initial lease term 

and total amount of monthly rent due from the tenant. The landlord may not increase the total rent 

payable to the landlord during the initial lease term. 

61. The HAP Contract also sets out the amount of the housing assistance payment by 

the public housing agency to the landlord, calculated in accordance with the regulations. 

62. The HAP Contract provides that the tenant is responsible for paying the landlord the 

balance of the total rent not covered by the housing assistance payment. 

63. The sum of the housing assistance payment by the public housing agency and the 

tenant’s share of the rent payable to the landlord under the HAP Contract is known as the contract 

rent. 

64. The sum of the housing assistance payment and the tenant’s share of the rent 

payable to the landlord may be adjusted due to market factors in the rental market and changes to a 

tenant’s income. These adjustments are made in accordance with HUD requirements. Notice of 

these adjustments to the contract rent are provided to the landlord and tenant by the public housing 

agency, through a subsidy adjustment notice. 

65. The regulations that govern payment of rent under a HAP Contract are contained in 

24 C.F.R. § 982.451. Subsection (b)(4)(ii) states: “The owner may not demand or accept any rent 

payment from the tenant in excess of the maximum and must immediately return any excess rent to 

the tenant.” 

66. Section 5(e) of Part C of the HAP Contract and Tenancy Addendum to the standard 

form HAP Contracts further provides: “The owner may not charge or accept, from the family or 

from any other source, any payment for rent of the unit in addition to the rent to owner. Rent to 

owner includes all housing services, maintenance, utilities and appliances to be provided and paid 

by the owner in accordance with the lease.” (Exh. E at 2.) 

67. Section 8 of Part A of the HAP Contracts specifically addresses “Utilities and 

Appliances,” requiring that: “Unless otherwise specified below, the owner shall pay for all utilities 
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and appliances provided by the owner.” Section 5(c) of Part B of the HAP Contracts further 

requires that any “lease shall be consistent with the HAP contract” in this regard. 

68. Section 7(b) of Part B of the HAP Contracts mandates that: “Unless the owner has 

complied with all provisions of the HAP contract, the owner does not have a right to receive 

housing assistance payments under the HAP contract.” 

CLASS DEFINITION AND GENERAL ALLEGATIONS 

69. Plaintiffs also bring this case as a class action pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil 

Procedure 23, seeking damages, injunctive, and other equitable relief on behalf of themselves, the 

United States, and all class members as defined below. 

70. The Court has certified Plaintiffs’ Rule 23(b)(3) class for damages/restitution 

defined as: 

All persons who, in the time period starting on April 14, 2011 (four years 
prior to the date of filing the initial Complaint in this action) through the 
final resolution of this matter, (1) have been tenants at any of Defendants’ 
California properties; (2) have participated in the “Section 8” Housing 
Choice Voucher Program in connection with their tenancies at the 
California properties; and (3) have paid additional charges set forth in 
Additional Services Agreements in excess of their individual portions of the 
contract rent set forth in the HAP Contracts. ECF Nos. 92, 114. 

71. The Court has also certified Plaintiffs’ Rule 23(b)(2) class for declaratory and 

injunctive relief defined as: 

All persons who: (1) are or will become tenants at any of Defendants’ 
California properties; (2) participate or will participate in the “Section 8” 
Housing Choice Voucher Program in connection with their tenancies at the 
California properties; and (3) pay or will pay additional charges set forth in 
Additional Services Agreements in excess of their individual portions of the 
contract rent set forth in the HAP Contracts. ECF No. 92.  

72. As used herein, the term “Class members” shall mean and refer to the members of 

the proposed classes described above. 

73. The “Class period” is designated as the time period starting on April 14, 2011, four 

years prior to the date of filing of the initial Complaint in this action. ECF No. 114 at 11. 

74. Plaintiffs reserve the right to seek leave to amend and expand the Class, and to add 
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subclasses, if discovery and further investigation reveals such action is warranted. 

75. As discussed in more detail above, Defendants owned, controlled, and managed the 

units that Class members resided in during the Class Period. 

Defendants Unlawfully Demand Additional Rental Charges. 

76. Throughout the Class period, Defendants have had a consistent policy and practice 

of unlawfully demanding additional rent payments, or “side payments,” from their tenants whose 

rent is subsidized through the Section 8 program at the Subject Premises. 

77. Upon information and belief, the HAP Contracts and Tenancy Addendums for the 

dwelling units in the Subject Premises are substantially identical with respect to all material terms, 

including the provisions described above that preclude the landlord from collecting payments from 

Class members that exceed their individual portion of the contract rent amount. 

78. Upon information and belief, Defendants use software to create standard numbered 

forms for use at their properties, with substantially the same relevant terms and provisions. 

79. Upon information and belief, Defendants colluded to devise and engage in this 

course of business conduct designed and intended to violate 42 U.S.C. § 1437f, 24 C.F.R. Part 982, 

and Defendants’ HAP Contracts and Tenancy Addendums with their Section 8 tenants. 

80. During the course of the Class members’ tenancies, Defendants made unlawful 

demands to the Class members for additional rent payments, or “side payments,” in excess of the 

Class members’ individual shares of the contract rent pursuant to their HAP Contracts. 

81. As set forth in Defendants standard form LD303.0l “Additional Services 

Agreement,” Defendants’ demands for “side payments” included demands that Class Members pay 

additional rent for: washers and dryers, renter’s insurance, parking (covered and uncovered), 

garage rental, storage space rental, month-to-month lease fees, “Rent Plus” (a credit reporting 

service), pest and bedbug control, pet rent and other pet fees, and internet and cable service. 

Plaintiffs continue to review documents recently produced by Defendants in discovery to ascertain 

whether Defendants unlawfully charged Section 8 tenants additional rental charges. 

82. During the course of their tenancies, all Class members paid, or are in jeopardy of 

paying, Defendants these additional rent payments, or “side payments,” in excess of their 
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individual shares of the contract rent pursuant to their HAP Contracts. 

83. Each of Defendants’ demands for additional rent and receipt of these side payments 

from Class members violated 42 U.S.C. § 1437f, 24 C.F.R. Part 982, and the Class members’ 

Tenancy Addendums and HAP Contracts. 

84. The additional rent payments that Defendants have unlawfully collected are 

individually so small that it is economically unfeasible for the Class members to pursue their 

remedies through individual actions. 

Defendants Are Liable For Their Unlawful Conduct Under Alter Ego, Single Enterprise, 
Agency, and Other Theories of Vicarious Liability. 

85. Each and every Defendant was at all relevant times the agent, employee, alter ego, 

and/or joint venturer of other Defendants, and they acted within the scope of that agency, 

employment, or alter ego, and/or in furtherance of the joint venture. 

86. In committing the acts complained of herein, each Defendant acted as the authorized 

agent, employee, alter ego, or representative of each other Defendant. Each act of each Defendant 

complained of herein was committed within the scope of said agency, employment, alter ego or 

other vicarious representation, and each act was ratified by each other Defendant. Each Defendant 

is liable, in whole or in part, for the damages and injuries suffered by Class members. 

87. As further alleged below, at all relevant times, Defendants were the alter egos of one 

another. There exists a unity of interest and ownership among Defendants such that any 

individuality and separateness between them has ceased to exist, so that the same personnel who 

serve as officers for Defendant Wasatch Property Management completely control, dominate, 

manage, and operate all other Defendant entities.  

88. Plaintiffs further and in the alternative allege that Defendants are sister or affiliate 

entities and were at all relevant times acting as a single enterprise to manage the Subject Properties 

and engage in the unlawful conduct alleged in this action. As such, this single enterprise must be 

held to respond as a whole for the liabilities and debts of all constituent entity Defendants.  

89. Audited financial records disclosed during discovery demonstrate that Defendants 

Wasatch Pool Holdings, LLC, Wasatch Pool Holdings III, LLC, and other named Defendants that 

Case 2:15-cv-00799-KJM-DB   Document 136   Filed 08/17/21   Page 19 of 215



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

 

 

18 
FIFTH AMENDED COMPLAINT - CASE NO. 2:15-CV-00799 KJM-DB 

830228.4 

hold specific property assets are wholly owned subsidiaries of Defendant Wasatch Premier 

Properties. Wasatch Premier Properties and its subsidiaries own many of the Subject Properties at 

issue in this case.  

90. Defendant Wasatch Premier Properties and/or its owners have affirmed that it is the 

guarantor of and personally liable for the debts of its subsidiary Wasatch Property Holdings. 

Plaintiffs continue to conduct discovery as to whether other Defendants hold themselves out as 

liable for the debts of other Defendants.  

91. Defendants Wasatch Advantage Group, Wasatch Property Management, LLC, 

Wasatch Premier Properties, LLC, and others also hold themselves out in public documents as 

operating as a joint enterprise. 

92. Defendants Wasatch Premier Properties, LLC, and Wasatch Pool Holdings, LLC, 

hold themselves out, in documents provided to government agencies, as owners of properties that 

are in fact nominally held by other Defendants; 

93. On information and belief, Defendants Wasatch Premier Properties, LLC, and 

Wasatch Property Holdings, LLC, among other Defendants, formed and used other Defendant 

entities to transfer to them the existing debts and liabilities.  

94. Defendants have also formed multiple entities for the sole or primary purpose of 

facilitating transactions such as acquiring other properties from third parties under common 

ownership or obtaining more favorable debt financing.   

95. Plaintiffs are also informed and believe that Defendants have at all relevant times 

commingled funds and failed to properly segregate funds. Plaintiffs continue to seek discovery on 

this issue.  

96. Defendants, including Wasatch Property Management, Wasatch Property Holdings, 

LLC, and Wasatch Advantage Group, LLC, have overlapping and in many cases identical directors 

and/or officers. These identical directors include but are not limited to Dell Loy Hansen, Bradley 

Mishler, and Scott Stettler, who have at all relevant times been employed at Wasatch Property 

Management. Directors Hansen, Mishler and Stettler, among others, are also presumed to be 

Case 2:15-cv-00799-KJM-DB   Document 136   Filed 08/17/21   Page 20 of 215



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

 

 

19 
FIFTH AMENDED COMPLAINT - CASE NO. 2:15-CV-00799 KJM-DB 

830228.4 

employees or agents of multiple Defendants and perform work for multiple Defendants. Plaintiffs 

continue to conduct discovery into the exact employment relationships among Defendants.  

97. The Chief Operating Officer of Defendant Wasatch Property Management from 

2016 until July 2021 described himself on his email signature and company biography on 

Defendants’ website as Chief Operating Officer for “Wasatch Premier Communities,” which is not 

a separate legal entity, but rather a fictitious name used by Defendants to refer to the collection of 

Wasatch-affiliated entities that own and invest in the Subject Properties and other residential 

properties. 

98. Multiple named Defendants, including but not limited to Wasatch Advantage 

Group, LLC,  Wasatch Property Management, Inc., Wasatch Premier Properties, LLC, Wasatch 

Pool Holdings III, LLC,  Aspen Park Holdings, LLC, Bent Tree Apartments, LLC, California Place 

Apartments, LLC, Camelot Lakes Holdings, LLC, Canyon Club Holdings, LLC, Chesapeake 

Apartment Holdings, LLC, Courtyard at Central Park Apartments, LLC, Oak Valley Apartments, 

LLC, and Wasatch Quail Run GP, LLC, and River Oaks Holdings, LLC, are entities registered to 

the same address in Logan, UT.   

99. Defendants Peppertree Apartment Holding, LP, Piedmont Apartments, LP, Village 

Group Apartments, and Wasatch Advantage Group are entities registered to the same agent and 

address in Mission Viejo, CA.   

100. Defendants Bellwood Jerron Apartments LP, Logan Park Apartments LP, and Point 

Natomas Apartments LP are registered to the same agent and address in San Francisco, CA.  

101. Defendants also share common in-house legal services and accounting services and 

use common databases, email systems, and other computer systems. 

102. Relevant documents disclosed also indicate that Wasatch Property Management 

and/or its agents and employees, including Dell Loy Hansen, as a majority shareholder of multiple 

Defendants, exercise control over other Defendant entities, and use them as instrumentalities or 

conduits for their business with respect to the alleged misconduct.  
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103. Based on financial documents disclosed in discovery, Plaintiffs allege that entities 

owned, operated and/or controlled by Defendant Wasatch Premier Properties, LLC, were 

undercapitalized and subject to its financial decision-making.  

104. The closely-held nature and the substantially overlapping and, in some cases, 

identical members, owners, and shareholders among multiple Defendant entities demonstrate a 

failure to maintain arms’ length relationships in their business transactions. They have also used 

the corporate form to procure additional property and obtain favorable debt financing for other 

named Defendants. Further information on these issues is in the possession of Defendants, and 

Plaintiffs continue to conduct discovery into these issues.   

105. Information that can establish that Defendants are engaged in a joint venture or 

single enterprise, are agents of one another, and/or in equity should be considered alter egos of one 

another and held vicariously liable as such, is within the exclusive control of the Defendants.  

Plaintiffs continue to seek discovery from Defendants of this information.   

106. Because of the unity of interest and ownership among the named Defendants, 

adherence to the fiction of a separate existence of each corporate Defendant and treatment of their 

acts as individual and distinct from each other would allow an abuse of the corporate privilege, and 

promote unjust and inequitable results.   

107. In litigating this action since 2015, Defendants have held themselves out as the 

owners and managers of properties nominally owed and/or managed by other Defendants. 

Defendants have responded to discovery, testified, answered for, brought and defended against 

motions, and otherwise extensively litigated this action for all of the Subject Properties. Defendants 

have been represented by a single counsel and have by their actions, for the substantial majority of 

the litigation, suggested to Plaintiffs and the Court that they are operating as a single entity, with 

shared practices, procedures, defenses, and liability for the acts alleged in this action. 

108. Defendants have abused the corporate form by creating multiple entities and 

unevenly dispersing both revenues and liabilities deriving from the unified policies controlled by a 

single set of decisionmakers who dominate all of the entities across a complex network of entities. 

Injustice would result should only certain Defendants be held liable for the acts only nominally 
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belonging to parents and/or sister subsidiaries, and should other Defendant entities be permitted to 

retain the unjust enrichment they have gained as a result of the unlawful conduct alleged in this 

action.  

109. Upon information and belief, during the Class period, Defendants were Qui tam 

plaintiffs’ and Class members’ landlords, and Qui tam plaintiffs and Class members were 

Defendants’ tenants, as those terms, “landlord” and “tenant,” are defined under 24 C.F.R. Part 982 

and the relevant HAP Contracts and Tenancy Addendums. 

Defendants Treat Additional Charges as Rent. 

110. Defendants have a policy and practice of treating these additional charges as rent. 

111. Defendants’ standard form LD302.0I “Residential Rental Agreement” has provided 

at all relevant times either that: (1) “All payments received for rent and additional charges shall 

first be applied to any past balance due and then to additional charges and then to current rent.”; or 

(2) “Rent received shall first be applied to all sums due and then to the current rent due” (emphasis 

added). 

112. Defendants confirmed this policy at deposition—specifically, that Section 8 tenants 

who fail to pay additional charges have those amounts deducted from their next monthly rental 

payment, and that this deduction results in a default in rent. 

113. Also confirming this policy, Defendants use standard form “Resident Ledgers” and 

“Move Out Statements” in accounting for charges to, payments by, and balances of Section 8 

tenants. These documents show that Defendants treat contract rent and additional charges 

identically—combining them in the same running balance and with any rental payments by tenants 

applied to that balance, regardless of the nature of the charge or payment. 

114. Under the subsection for “Rent,” Defendants standard form Rental Agreement 

provides for a total monthly amount due that expressly combines contract rent and additional 

charges. 

115. Defendants also combine contract rent and additional rental charges in standard 

forms: 1) LD31 5.01 “60-Day Notice of Resident’s Intent to Vacate”; 2) LD101.06 an initial move-

in form (which also totals both contract rent and additional rental charges in “First Month’s Rent”); 
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3) LD301.02 “Monthly Cost Breakdown”; and 4) “Monthly Statement of Rental Account” (which 

also totals both contract rent and additional rental charges in informing Section 8 tenants when “rent 

will be due,” and the consequences of failure to pay such rent). 

116. Moreover, Defendants’ standard form RS104.04 “Renewal Notification,” expressly 

informs Section 8 tenants that contract rent and additional rental charges are part of the same total 

“rental rate”: “When you renew your lease your new rental rate will be $______, this rate includes 

rent and any applicable service items (such as parking, renter’s insurance, pet, etc.).” Similarly, 

Defendants’ standard form RS104.02 “Simplify Your Life” provides: “We are excited to offer you 

this lease at the rate of $______ per month, this rate includes rent and any applicable service items 

(such as parking, renter’s insurance, pet, etc.).” 

117. Defendants also have a policy and practice of deducting any unpaid additional 

charges from Section 8 tenants’ security deposits, even though the rental agreement limits 

deductions from the security deposit for nonpayment to defaults in “rent” and utilities. 

Defendants Treat Additional Charges as Grounds for Eviction. 

118. Defendants also treat additional charges as rent because Defendants have a policy 

and practice of treating unpaid additional charges as grounds for terminating tenancies and evicting 

Section 8 tenants. 

119. Defendants’ standard form LD303.0l “Additional Services Agreement,” setting 

forth the additional charges, provided at relevant times that: “A default under this Agreement is a 

default under the Lease . . . . If Lessee fails to pay any Monthly Fee when due or if Lessee fails to 

perform any other obligation contained in the Agreement within the time required, [such failure] . . 

. shall cause [Wasatch] to terminate the Resident’s tenancy . . . .” 

120. At deposition, Defendants admitted that it is in fact Defendants’ policy and practice 

to declare a breach of the lease if a tenant defaults on additional charges, because the “Additional 

Services Agreement” itself is made a part of the lease. 

121. Defendants use standard form 3-day, 5-day, and 10-day notices to comply with lease 

or quit, to threaten Section 8 tenants with eviction for failure to pay additional charges. At 

deposition, Defendants admitted that it is their policy to threaten eviction for failure to pay additional 
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charges. 

122. In particular, Defendants use standard form EC101.03 “THREE-DAY NOTICE TO 

PERFORM FINANCIAL COVENANT OF LEASE OR QUIT,” to threaten tenants with eviction 

for failure to pay additional charges. As the standard form provides: “Your lease provides that you 

are obligated to pay the following charges, which you have failed to do: [listing unpaid additional 

charges, such as renter’s insurance, parking, washer/dryer, etc.].” As the form continues: “You have 

breached the lease due to the following infractions: Failure to pay amount due in accordance with the 

above referenced item(s). Within three (3) days after services of this notice, you must do the 

following: Pay to [Wasatch] the sum of $[the total additional charges owed] to cure the breach of 

the lease agreement. Or deliver possession of the premises to the undersigned. Your failure to 

perform the covenant breached as specified, or vacate the premises within three (3) days, will cause 

the undersigned to initiate legal proceedings against you to declare the forfeiture of your rental 

agreement, recover possession of the premises, and to seek judgment for rent owed through the 

expiration date of this notice, together with damages for each day of occupancy after that date, attorney 

fees if provided for in your rental agreement . . . . [Y]ou can make your rental payments at 

IsYourHome.com.” 

123. Defendants also use standard form ECl0l.01 to threaten Section 8 tenants with 

eviction for being “in default under the Rental Agreement in the aggregate amount of $___.”  

Defendants’ policy and practice is to include both contract rent and additional charges in this aggregate 

amount. The standard form further provides that: “Partial payments are not accepted by 

management”—meaning that tenants cannot pay only their contract rent owed to avoid eviction, but 

instead must pay all additional charges too. Defendants specifically threaten that: “WITHIN 5 DAYS 

after your receipt of this notice, you are required to pay said delinquent sums in full. Otherwise, your 

Rental Agreement shall thereupon immediately terminate and legal proceedings will be 

commenced against you to (1) recover possession of said apartment, (2) assess reasonable 

attorney’s fees, court/other costs and (3) recover damages, all in connection with your default under 

the Rental Agreement.” 

124. Defendants evict Section 8 tenants for failure to pay additional charges. 

Case 2:15-cv-00799-KJM-DB   Document 136   Filed 08/17/21   Page 25 of 215



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

 

 

24 
FIFTH AMENDED COMPLAINT - CASE NO. 2:15-CV-00799 KJM-DB 

830228.4 

Defendants’ Additional Charges Are Conditions of Leasing. 

125. Defendants also treat a number of their additional charges as rent because those 

charges are—or were during relevant times—mandatory conditions of leasing an apartment. These 

charges include renter’s insurance, in-unit washer and dryers, parking at certain properties, month-

to-month fees, pest and bedbug control, pet fees, and cable at certain properties. 

126. Defendants’ standard form LD302.01 rental agreement provides: “Effective 

December 1, 2003, Wasatch Property Management requires each resident(s) to maintain Renters 

Insurance with a minimum [amount of] Personal Liability Coverage . . . . If at any time during the 

term of this lease, resident(s) is without coverage and in default of their lease, resident(s) agrees to 

automatically be enrolled in the ‘pay along with rent’ program and be charged accordingly.” 

127. Similarly, Defendants’ standard form LD101.06 for initial move-in provides: “As of 

December l, 2003, Wasatch Premier Communities requires each resident to maintain Resident’s 

Insurance with a minimum [amount of] Liability Coverage.” Defendants’ standard form LD101.03 

“Applicant Consent,” renter’s insurance requirement letter, and website have the same or similar 

language. These documents further describe the paperwork and cover details required if a tenant 

chooses to obtain renter’s insurance “from an approved list of carriers.” 

128. The standard Applicant Consent form also provides: “As a condition of leasing, 

Residents may be required to subscribe to [bulk cable] services.” 

129. A number of Defendants’ standard forms describe month-to-month fees required 

from tenants who do not have a longer lease agreement. At deposition, Defendants admitted that 

month-to-month fees are part of the total rent. 

130. At deposition, Defendants confirmed that additional charges for in-unit washers and 

dryers, as well as parking at certain properties, were conditions of tenancy until some time after 

filing this lawsuit. Defendants also admitted that pet fees are a condition of tenancy for all tenants 

with pets, and that Defendants have a policy of charging tenants for bedbug-related pest control. 

131. Defendants also had a policy and practice of requiring tenants to pay non-refundable 

application, additional application, and lease initiation fees at move-in, as a condition of tenancy. 

132. Plaintiffs continue to review documents recently produced by Defendants in 
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discovery to ascertain whether additional charges for other items are conditions of tenancy, and 

whether additional charges are also conditions of tenancy for Defendants’ properties in other states. 

CLASS REPRESENTATIVES 

Plaintiff Denika Terry 

133. During the Class Period, Plaintiff Denika Terry received housing assistance from 

the Sacramento Housing and Redevelopment Agency (“Sacramento Housing Agency”) under the 

Section 8 program. 

134. Denika Terry is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that at all relevant 

times, Defendants were her landlords, and she was Defendants’ tenant, as those terms, “landlord” 

and “tenant,” are defined under 24 C.F.R. Part 982 and the relevant HAP Contract. 

135. On or about September 20, 2010, Denika Terry and Defendants reached an 

agreement for the rental of Apartment No. 391 of the Data Drive Property (“Terry Residence”}, 

subject to the approval of the Sacramento Housing Agency. 

136. On or about September 20, 2010, the Sacramento Housing Agency, Denika Terry, 

and Defendants approved the rental agreement and entered into a HAP Contract for the Terry 

Residence. A true and accurate copy of this HAP Contract is attached to the Complaint as Exhibit 

A. Pursuant to the HAP Contract, rent for the Terry Residence was $860 per month, with the 

Sacramento Housing Agency responsible for $860 of the contract rent, and Denika Terry 

responsible for none of the contract rent. Section S(e) of Part C of the Tenancy Addendum to the 

Terry HAP Contract further provides: “The owner may not charge or accept, from the family or 

from any other source, any payment for rent of the unit in addition to the rent to owner. Rent to 

owner includes all housing services, maintenance, utilities and appliances to be provided and paid 

by the owner in accordance with the lease.” 

137. Denika Terry occupied the Terry Residence pursuant to the HAP Contract, from 

approximately September 20, 2010, to March 20, 2013. 

138. During the course of the tenancy, the Sacramento Housing Agency sent Defendants 

and Denika Terry annual subsidy adjustment notices. True and accurate copies of the relevant 

notices are attached to the Complaint as Exhibits C and D. 
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139. The first subsidy adjustment notice, effective October 1, 2011, increased the rent 

amount to $939 per month, with the Sacramento Housing Agency continuing to pay all of the 

contract rent. The second subsidy adjustment notice, effective October 1, 2012, did not change the 

rent amount, but decreased the Sacramento Housing Agency’s assistance payment to $729 per 

month, and increased Denika Terry’s portion to $210 per month. 

140. In accordance with the HAP Contract and subsidy adjustment notices, the 

Sacramento Housing Agency paid Defendants housing assistance payments in the amounts of: 1) 

$315, prorated, for the month of September 2010; 2) $860 per month from October 2010 through 

September 2011; 3) $939 per month from October 2011 through September 2012; and 4) $729 per 

month from October 2012 through March 2013. 

141. In sum, HUD and the Sacramento Housing Agency made a total of at least 31 rental 

payments to Defendants totaling $26,277 for Denika Terry. 

142. Upon information and belief, at all times during Denika Terry’s tenancy, the 

Sacramento Housing Agency paid the housing assistance payments directly to Defendants. 

143. Beginning on or around September 20, 2010, and continuing throughout Denika 

Terry’s tenancy, Defendants demanded that she pay them additional rent payments, or “side 

payments,” not set forth in her HAP Contract or subsidy adjustment notices. Defendants made 

these “side payment” demands to Denika Terry on a monthly basis, including demands that she pay 

extra rent for: I) washer and dryer rentals, 2) renter’s insurance, and 3) covered parking charges. 

144. These demands for “side payments” are reflected in the Defendants’ Resident 

Ledger for the Terry Residence. A true and accurate copy of the Resident Ledger is attached to the 

Complaint as Exhibit B. 

145. A comparison of the relevant HAP Contract and subsidy adjustment notices with the 

Residential Ledger demonstrates that Defendants made demands for “side payments” from Denika 

Terry for each month that she lived at the Terry Residence. 

146. Defendants demanded that Denika Terry make “side payments” in violation of the 

HAP Contract on at least 72 occasions. 

Case 2:15-cv-00799-KJM-DB   Document 136   Filed 08/17/21   Page 28 of 215



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

 

 

27 
FIFTH AMENDED COMPLAINT - CASE NO. 2:15-CV-00799 KJM-DB 

830228.4 

147. As a result, Defendants demanded and Denika Terry paid $1,953.89 in additional 

rent payments from September 2010 through March 2013. In contrast, the amount of contract rent 

that Denika Terry was responsible for the entirety of this time period, as set forth in the HAP 

Contract and subsidy adjustment notices, was only $1,260. Thus, Defendants charged Denika 

Terry more in total unlawful rent payments than the total amount of rent for which she was 

responsible under the HAP Contract. 

148. Defendants threatened to evict Denika Terry and her family if she did not pay these 

additional rental amounts. 

149. Defendants ultimately filed an eviction action against Denika Terry for not making 

the unlawfully demanded “side payments.” 

150. Neither the Sacramento Housing Agency nor HUD authorized Defendants to charge 

or collect these additional rent payments. To the contrary, these demands for additional rent 

payments were barred by the HAP Contract, Tenancy Addendum, and applicable Section 8 rules 

and related regulations, as described above. 

151. Defendants never informed Denika Terry that the Section 8 rules, the HAP Contract, 

and Tenancy Addendum prohibited them from demanding these additional rent payments. 

152. Due to Defendants’ demands and threats of eviction, Denika Terry agreed to their 

demands for additional rent payments so that she would not lose her home and Section 8 voucher. 

153. Defendants’ additional charges to Denika Terry were also treated by Defendants as 

rent and were mandatory, pursuant to Defendants’ policies and procedures discussed in detail 

above. 

154. Plaintiff Denika Terry suffered emotional distress, physical injury, overpayment of 

rent, and out-of-pocket expenses as a result of the acts and omissions committed by Defendants. 

Plaintiff Roy Huskey III  

155. During the Class Period, Plaintiff Roy Huskey III received housing assistance from 

the Sacramento Housing Agency under the Section 8 program. 

156. Roy Huskey III is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that at all relevant 
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times, Defendants were his landlords, and he was Defendants’ tenant, as those terms, “landlord” 

and “tenant,” are defined under 24 C.F.R. Part 982 and the relevant HAP Contract. 

157. On or about June 30, 2011, Roy Huskey III and Defendants reached an agreement 

for the rental of Apartment No. 191 of the Palm Avenue Property (“Huskey III Residence”), 

subject to the approval of the Sacramento Housing Agency. 

158. On or about July 8, 2011, the Sacramento Housing Agency, Roy Huskey III, and 

Defendants approved the rental agreement and entered into a HAP Contract for the Huskey III 

Residence. A true and accurate copy of this HAP Contract is attached to the Complaint as Exhibit 

E. Pursuant to the HAP Contract, rent for the Huskey III Property was $840 per month, with the 

Sacramento Housing Agency responsible for $554 of the contract rent, and Roy Huskey III 

responsible for $286 of the contract rent. Section 5(e) of Part C of the Tenancy Addendum to the 

Huskey III HAP Contract further provides: “The owner may not charge or accept, from the family 

or from any other source, any payment for rent of the unit in addition to the rent to owner. Rent to 

owner includes all housing services, maintenance, utilities and appliances to be provided and paid 

by the owner in accordance with the lease.” 

159. Roy Huskey III amended his lease and tenancy in mid-2015. 

160. During the course of the tenancy, the Sacramento Housing Agency sent Defendants 

and Roy Huskey III annual subsidy adjustment notices. 

161. In accordance with the HAP Contract and subsidy adjustment notices, the 

Sacramento Housing Agency paid the Defendants housing assistance payments in the amounts of: 

1) $16.67, prorated, for the month of June 2011; 2) $500 for the month of July 2011; 3) $554 per 

month from August 2011 through August 2012; 4) $536 per month from September 2012 through 

June 2013; and 5) $524 per month from beginning in July 2013 through the present. 

162. In sum, HUD and the Sacramento Housing Agency made a total of at least 34 rental 

payments to Defendants totaling $17,848.67, as of March 3, 2014. 

163. Upon information and belief, at all times during Roy Huskey III’s tenancy, the 

Sacramento Housing Agency paid the housing assistance payments directly to Defendants. 

164. Beginning on or around July 8, 2011, and continuing throughout Roy Huskey III’s 
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tenancy, Defendants demanded that he pay them additional rent payments, or “side payments,” not set 

forth in his HAP Contract or subsidy adjustment notices. Defendants made these “side payment” 

demands to Roy Huskey III on a monthly basis, including demands that he pay extra rent for: 1) washer 

and dryer rentals; and 2) renter’s insurance. 

165. These demands for “side payments” are reflected in the Defendants’ Resident Ledger 

for the Huskey III Residence. A true and accurate copy of the Resident Ledger through March 3, 2014, 

is attached as Exhibit F. 

166. A comparison of the HAP Contract with the Resident Ledger demonstrates that 

Defendants made demands for “side payments” from Roy Huskey III for each month that he lived at 

the Huskey III Property, through March 3, 2014. 

167. Defendants demanded that Roy Huskey III make “side payments” in violation of the 

HAP Contract on at least 70 occasions, as of March 3, 2014. 

168. As a result, Defendants demanded and Roy Huskey III paid at least $2,239.98 in 

additional rent payments from June 1, 2011, through March 3, 2014. In contrast, the amount of contract 

rent that Roy Huskey III was responsible for the entirety of this time period, as set forth in the HAP 

Contract and subsidy adjustment notices, was only $9,363.30. 

169. Defendants threatened to evict Roy Huskey III  and his family if he did not pay these 

additional rental amounts. 

170. Neither the Sacramento Housing Agency nor HUD authorized Defendants to charge 

or collect these additional rent payments. To the contrary, these demands for additional rent 

payments were barred by the HAP Contract, Tenancy Addendum, and applicable Section 8 rules and 

related regulations, as described above. 

171. Defendants never informed Roy Huskey III that the Section 8 rules, HAP Contract, 

and Tenancy Addendum prohibit them from demanding these additional rent payments. 

172. Due to Defendants’ demands and threats of eviction, Roy Huskey III agreed to their 

demands for additional rent payments so that he would not lose his home and Section 8 voucher. 

173. Defendants’ additional charges to Roy Huskey III are also treated by Defendants as 

rent and are mandatory, pursuant to Defendants’ policies and procedures discussed in detail above. 
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174. Plaintiff Roy Huskey III suffered emotional distress, physical injury, overpayment of 

rent, and out-of-pocket expenses as a result of the acts and omissions committed by Defendants. 

Plaintiff Tamera Livingston  

175. During the Class Period, Plaintiff Tamera Livingston received housing assistance 

from the Sacramento Housing Agency under the Section 8 program. 

176. Tamera Livingston is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that at all relevant 

times, Defendants were her landlords, and she was Defendants’ tenant, as those terms, “landlord” 

and “tenant,” are defined under 24 C.F.R. Part 982 and the relevant HAP Contract. 

177. On or about August 1, 2012, Tamera Livingston and Defendants reached an 

agreement for the rental of Apartment No. 491 of the Data Drive Property (“Livingston 

Residence”), subject to the approval of the Sacramento Housing Agency. 

178. Upon information and belief, in 2012, the Sacramento Housing Agency, Tamera 

Livingston, and Defendants approved the rental agreement and entered into a HAP Contract for the 

Livingston Residence. Upon information and belief, pursuant to the HAP Contract, rent for the 

Livingston Residence was $882 per month, with the Sacramento Housing Agency responsible for 

$882 of the contract rent, and Tamera Livingston responsible for none of the contract rent. Upon 

information and belief, section 5(e) of Part C of the Tenancy Addendum to the Livingston HAP 

Contract further provides: “The owner may not charge or accept, from the family or from any other 

source, any payment for rent of the unit in addition to the rent to owner. Rent to owner includes all 

housing services, maintenance, utilities and appliances to be provided and paid by the owner in 

accordance with the lease.” 

179. Tamera Livingston has occupied the Livingston Residence pursuant to the HAP 

Contract, from approximately August 1, 2012 to present. 

180. During the course of the tenancy, the Sacramento Housing Agency sent Defendants 

and Tamera Livingston annual subsidy adjustment notices. 

181. Upon information and belief, in accordance with the HAP Contract and subsidy 

adjustment notices, the Sacramento Housing Agency paid Defendants housing assistance payments 
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in the amounts of: 1) $497.00, prorated, for the month of August 2012; 2) $882 per month from 

September 2012 through January 2013; 3) $713 per month from February 2013 through April 

2013; and 4) $882 per month from May 2013 through January 2015; 5) $786.00 per month from 

February 2015 through June 2015; 6) $829.00 per month from July 2015 through January 2016; 7) 

$812.00 per month from February 2016 through March 2017; 8) $820.00 per month from April 

2017 to March 2018; (9) $898.00 per month from April 2018 through at least February 2019. The 

Sacramento Housing Agency continues to pay Defendants housing assistance payments for Tamera 

Livingston. 

182. According to information produced by Defendants, HUD and the Sacramento 

Housing Agency made rental payments to Defendants totaling $85,586.44 for Tamera Livingston. 

183. Upon information and belief, at all times during Tamera Livingston’s tenancy, the 

Sacramento Housing Agency paid the housing assistance payments directly to Defendants. 

184. Beginning on or around August 2010, and continuing throughout Tamera 

Livingston’s tenancy, Defendants demanded that she pay them additional rent payments, or “side 

payments,” not set forth in her HAP Contract or subsidy adjustment notices. Defendants made these 

“side payment” demands to Tamera Livingston on a monthly basis, including demands that she pay 

extra rent for: 1) washer and dryer rentals, 2) renter’s insurance, and 3) covered parking charges. 

185. These demands for “side payments” are reflected in the Defendants’ Resident 

Ledger for the Livingston Residence. A true and accurate copy of the Resident Ledger is attached 

as Exhibit M. 

186. Upon information and belief, a comparison of the relevant HAP Contract and 

subsidy adjustment notices with the Residential Ledger demonstrates that Defendants made 

demands for “side payments” from Tamera Livingston for each month that she lived at the 

Livingston Residence. 

187. Defendants demanded that Tamera Livingston make “side payments” in violation of 

the HAP Contract on at least 72 occasions. 

188. As a result, Defendants demanded and Tamera Livingston paid approximately 

$3,783.96 in additional rent payments from August 2012 through the date on which the Fourth 
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Amended Complaint was filed. In contrast, the amount of contract rent that Tamera Livingston was 

responsible for the entirety of this time period, as set forth in the HAP Contract and subsidy 

adjustment notices, was only $6,731.00. 

189. Defendants threatened to evict Tamera Livingston if she did not pay these additional 

rental amounts. 

190. Defendants ultimately filed an eviction action against Tamera Livingston for not 

making the unlawfully demanded “side payments.” 

191. Neither the Sacramento Housing Agency nor HUD authorized Defendants to charge 

or collect these additional rent payments. To the contrary, these demands for additional rent 

payments were barred by the HAP Contract, Tenancy Addendum, and applicable Section 8 rules and 

related regulations, as described above. 

192. Defendants never informed Tamera Livingston that the Section 8 rules, the HAP 

Contract, and Tenancy Addendum prohibited them from demanding these additional rent 

payments. 

193. Due to Defendants’ demands and threats of eviction, Tamera Livingston agreed to 

their demands for additional rent payments so that she would not lose her home and Section 8 

voucher. 

194. Defendants’ additional charges to Tamera Livingston were also treated by 

Defendants as rent and were mandatory, pursuant to Defendants’ policies and procedures discussed 

in detail above. 

195. Plaintiff Tamera Livingston suffered emotional distress, physical injury, 

overpayment of rent, and out-of-pocket expenses as a result of the acts and omissions committed 

by Defendants. 

CLASS ALLEGATIONS 

196. Named Plaintiffs bring this action on behalf of themselves and as representatives of 

all Class members, as defined above. 

197. This action has been brought and may be properly maintained as a class action 
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because the proposed Class meets all applicable requirements of Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 

23. 

198. Commonality:  The named Plaintiffs and Class members are all former, current, or 

future tenants of Defendants at one or more of Defendants’ California properties, who in the 

relevant time period, have participated or will participate in the Section 8 program and receive rent 

subsidies from HUD subject to the protections of the Section 8 rules and related regulations 

described above. Class members therefore have been or are at risk of being unlawfully charged 

additional rent payments, or “side payments,” by Defendants, as described in more detail above, in 

excess of their individual portions of the contract rent, set forth in their HAP Contracts.  

Accordingly, the named Plaintiffs and Class members have suffered or will suffer a common 

injury. The named Plaintiffs and Class members all share common questions of law and fact which 

predominate over any question or issue solely affecting individual members.  These common 

questions of law and fact include but are not limited to: 

i. Whether Defendants entered into HAP Contracts and Tenancy Addendums with 
Class members, and local public housing agencies in support of Class members; 

ii. Whether by entering into HAP Contracts and Tenancy Addendums, Defendants 
entered into residential lease agreements with Class members; 

iii. Whether HUD and the local public housing agencies made payments to 
Defendants for the Class members’ subsidized portions of the rent; 

iv. Whether Defendants are bound by the relevant Section 8 program statutes and 
regulations, 42 U.S.C. § 1437f and 24 C.F.R. Part 982; 

v. Whether the relevant Section 8 program statutes and regulations, 42 

vi. U.S.C. § 1437f and 24 C.F.R. Part 982, prohibit Defendants from demanding 
any additional rent payments, in excess of the Class members’ portions of the 
rent under the relevant HAP Contracts; 

vii. Whether the relevant HAP Contracts prohibit Defendants from demanding any 
additional rent payments, in excess of the Class members’ portions of the rent 
under those HAP Contracts; 

viii. Whether Defendants demanded and collected additional rent payments, or “side 
payments”—for instance, for washer and dryer rentals, renter’s insurance, and 
covered parking charges—from the Class members, in excess of the Class 
members’ portions of the rent under the relevant HAP Contracts; 
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ix. Whether Defendants’ demands for and collection of these additional rent 
payments from the Class members violate the relevant Section 8 program 
statutes and regulations, 42 U.S.C. § 1437f and 24 C.F.R. Part 982; 

x. Whether Defendants’ demands for and collection of these additional rent 
payments from the Class members breach the relevant HAP Contracts and 
Tenancy Addendums; 

xi. Whether Defendants’ demands for and collection of these additional rent 
payments from the Class members breach Defendants’ residential lease 
agreements with Class members; 

xii. Whether Defendants’ demands for and collection of these additional rent 
payments from the Class members violate the False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. 
§§ 3729 et seq. 

xiii. Whether Defendants’ demands for and collection of these additional rent 
payments from the Class members violate California Business and Professions 
Code section 17200 et seq. 

xiv. The method of calculation and extent of damages for members of the Class. 

199. Typicality: The claims of the named Plaintiffs are typical of the claims of the Class 

members. The named Plaintiffs and all Class members are sustaining, have sustained, or are at risk 

of sustaining, injuries and/or damages arising out of and caused by the Defendants’ conduct as 

alleged in this Complaint. 

200. Numerosity: A class action is the only available method for the fair and efficient 

adjudication of this controversy.  Plaintiffs are informed and believe that Defendants own and 

manage, or at pertinent times have owned and managed, 69 apartment communities with 16,344 

units across five western states: California, Utah, Arizona, Colorado, and Washington. Properties 

range in size from 40 units to 661 units. Upon information and belief, in four Sacramento 

properties alone, Defendants currently own and manage more than 150 units which are subsidized 

by HUD through the Section 8 program. As a result, there are likely to be far more than 150 Class 

members. Membership will be determined through analysis of the HAP Contracts for the Section 8 

tenants at those Subject Properties located in California, Defendants’ Resident Ledgers for these 

tenants, subsidy adjustment notices sent to Defendants by the local public housing agencies for these 

tenants, and other written communications to the named Plaintiffs and Class members. 
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201. Adequacy of Representation: The named Plaintiffs in this action are adequate 

representatives of the Class in that their claims are typical of those in the Class. They have been 

damaged as alleged herein and they are willing to go forward as representative in this class action 

litigation. Plaintiffs have no interests that are adverse to or conflict with those of the Class 

members. Plaintiffs are committed to the vigorous prosecution of this action. To that end, Plaintiffs 

have retained competent and experience counsel. 

202. This action is certifiable under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(b)(3), because 

questions of law or fact common to the Class members, as described above, predominate over any 

questions affecting only individual members, and a class action is superior to other available 

methods for fairly and efficiently adjudicating the case. 

203. In addition, a class action is superior to the other available methods for fairly and 

efficiently adjudicating the case because the damages suffered by individual named Plaintiffs and 

Class members, while not inconsequential, are relatively small, and would be outweighed by the 

expense and burden of separate litigation by each individual. This fact is known by Defendants, 

and makes it impractical for Class members to seek redress individually for the wrongful conduct 

alleged herein. A class action is therefore the superior method of resolving this dispute and 

securing justice. In addition, judicial economy would be enhanced as a class action would avoid a 

multiplicity of lawsuits, undue hardship, and expense for both the Court and litigants. The 

prosecution of separate actions would also create a risk of inconsistent ruling;, which might be 

dispositive of the interests of the other Class members who are not parties to the adjudications and 

may substantially impede their ability to adequate protect their interests. 

204. Moreover, the class definition is ascertainable and lends itself to class certification 

because Defendants, as well as HUD and local public housing agencies, keep records of their 

Section 8 tenants and rental payments. Defendants can therefore easily produce the records that 

would identify all Class members. 

205. In the alternative, this action is certifiable under the provisions of Federal Rule of 

Civil Procedure 23(b)(2), because Defendant has acted or refused to act on grounds generally 

applicable to the Class, thereby making appropriate final injunctive relief or corresponding 
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declaratory relief with respect to the Class and necessitating that any such relief be extended to 

Class members on a mandatory, class-wide basis. 

206. In addition, the court may certify the Class with respect to particular issues, as set 

forth in detail above, under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(c)(4). 

207. Plaintiffs are not aware of any difficulty which will be encountered in the 

management of this litigation which should preclude its maintenance as a class action. 

RELIEF AND CLAIMS 

208. As a direct and proximate result of the Defendants unlawful conduct, as set forth in 

this Complaint, named Plaintiffs and Class members have sustained damages and are entitled to 

relief, including but not limited to: 1) a return of all rents which were unlawfully obtained by the 

Defendants; 2) statutory interest on such amounts according to proof; 3) additional statutory 

damages for each Plaintiff and Class member due to the acts and omission of the Defendants 

according to proof; 4) attorneys’ fees pursuant to contract and statute; 5) injunctive relief according 

to proof, including restoration of money wrongfully retained by Defendants, and interest thereon, 

and an injunction to prevent Defendants from continuing their illegal practices. 

209. In addition, this action will result in the enforcement of important rights affecting 

the public interest, including the right of the tenants of residential units to have their rent amounts 

determined in a lawful manner and free of harassment and intimidation. The successful conclusion 

of this litigation will confer a significant benefit on the general public and a large class of persons. 

Plaintiffs and Class members are therefore entitled to an award of attorneys’ fees pursuant to 

California Code of Civil Procedure section 1021.5. The necessity and financial burden of private 

enforcement are such as to make an award of fees under this statute appropriate. Such fees should 

not, in the interest of justice, be paid out of the recovery. 

210. Periodically, through their tenancies Defendants entered into residential rental 

agreements with Plaintiffs. True and correct copies of the residential rental agreements between 

Defendants and Plaintiff Terry are attached to the Complaint as Exhibit G, Exhibit H and Exhibit I. 

True and correct copies of the residential rental agreements between Defendants and Plaintiff 

Huskey are attached  as Exhibit J, Exhibit K. A true and correct copy of the residential rental 
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agreement between Defendants and Plaintiff Livingston is attached  as Exhibit L. 

211. Wherefore named Plaintiffs and Class members pray for the damages stated below. 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 
VIOLATION OF THE FEDERAL FALSE CLAIMS ACT 

31 U.S.C. § 3729(a) 
(All Plaintiffs v. Wasatch Advantage Group, LLC, Wasatch 
Property Management, Inc., Wasatch Pool Holdings, LLC, 

Chesapeake Apartment Holdings, LLC, Logan Park Apartments, 
LLC, and Logan Park Apartments LP (“The FCA Defendants”)) 

212. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate into this cause of action the allegations of 

paragraphs 1 through 211, as if the same were set out at length herein. 

213. The False Claims Act provides that any person who “knowingly presents a false or 

fraudulent claim for payment or approval” to the United States is liable on each such claim for a 

civil penalty of not less than $5,000 and not more than $10,000, plus three times the amount of 

damages sustained by the United States. In addition, any person who violates the Act is liable for 

the costs of the civil action brought to recover such penalty or damages. 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a). 

214. The False Claims Act defines the terms “knowing” and “knowingly” as meaning, 

with respect to information, that a person: “(i) has actual knowledge of the information; (ii) acts in 

deliberate ignorance of the truth or falsity of the information; or (iii) acts in reckless disregard of the 

truth or falsity of the information.” “[N]o proof of specific intent to defraud” is required. 31 U.S.C. 

§ 3729(b)(l). 

215. The False Claims Act defines a “claim” as “any request or demand ... for money or 

property ... that ... is made to a contractor, grantee, or other recipient, if the money or property is to 

be spent or used on the Government’s behalf or to advance a Government program or interest, and if 

the United Statements Government” either “provides or has provided any portion of the money or 

property requested or demanded” or “will reimburse such contractor, grantee or other recipient for 

any portion of the money or property which is requested or demanded.” 31 U.S.C. § 3729(b)(2). 

216. For each month that the FCA Defendants accepted “additional rent payments” from 

Plaintiffs, Defendants endorsed and presented for payment the housing assistance checks received 

from local public housing agencies. 
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217. In their HAP Contracts with the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban 

Development, FCA Defendants agreed that “During the HAP contract term, the rent to owner may 

at no time exceed the reasonable rent for the contract unit as most recently determined or 

redetermined by the PHA [local public housing agency] in accordance with HUD requirements.” 

(Exh. E at 9, para. 6(a).) 

218. FCA Defendants also certified to the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban 

Development that “During the term of this contract . . . d. Except for the rent to owner, the owner 

has not received and will not receive any payment or other consideration (from the family, the 

PHA, HUD, or any other public or private source) for rental of the contract unit during the HAP 

contract term.” (Exh. A at 9-10, para. 8(d).) 

219. FCA Defendants further agreed that “e. The owner may not may not charge or 

accept, from the family or from any other source, any payment for rent of the unit in addition to the 

rent to owner. Rent to owner includes all housing services, maintenance, utilities and appliances to 

be provided and paid by the owner in accordance with the lease. f. The owner must immediately return 

any excess rent payment to the tenant.” (Exh. A at 2, para. 5(e)-(f).) 

220. As of March 3, 2014, FCA Defendants knowingly endorsed and presented for 

payment 65 separate housing assistance checks in relationship to the named Plaintiffs’ tenancies, 

totaling $44,125.67, while demanding and collecting from Plaintiffs additional payments in 

violation of the relevant HAP Contracts, totaling $4,193.87. 

221. Upon information and belief, FCA Defendants’ unlawful demands for and collection 

of additional rent payments are ongoing. 

222. Upon information and belief, FCA Defendants commit these violations as to all of 

their tenants who live at the Subject Properties and who receive rental subsidies from HUD and the 

Section 8 program. 

223. The representations and agreements that FCA Defendants provided in their HAP 

Contracts (and all amendments or renewals thereof) each constitute a separate false claim or 

representation to the United States that FCA Defendants would not demand or receive 

consideration for the rented premises beyond the total contract rent amount, as set forth in the HAP 
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Contracts. 

224. In addition, FCA Defendants’ endorsement and presentation for payment of each 

assistance check for each month, while knowingly receiving additional rent payments from 

Plaintiffs, constitutes a separate false claim or representation to the United States that FCA 

Defendants did not receive any other consideration for the rented premises for that month, as set 

forth in the HAP Contracts. 

225. The United States of America suffered damages as a result of violations of the False 

Claims Act, because the money which HUD disbursed to local public housing agencies for the 

payment of Section 8 housing assistance would not have been paid to the Defendants absent these 

false claims and fraudulent conduct. 

226. The United States of America sustained damages equal to all payments made to the 

Defendants pursuant to Plaintiffs’ Section 8 assistance program, for which FCA Defendants also 

unlawfully demanded and collected additional rent payments from Plaintiffs, totaling $44,125.67 as 

of March 3, 2014. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 
BREACH OF CONTRACT 

CALIFORNIA CIVIL CODE §§ 3300 ET SEQ. 
(All Plaintiffs v. All Defendants) 

227. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate into this cause of action the allegations of 

paragraphs 1 through 226, as if the same were set out at length herein. 

228. By signing the relevant HAP Contracts, Tenancy Addendums, and standard form 

rental agreements, Plaintiffs and Defendants entered into written residential rental agreements, 

through the use of standard form leases with the same material terms. 

229. These lease agreements were adhesion contracts not subject to any negotiations or 

input by Plaintiffs. 

230. Defendants were obligated to comply with the material terms of these agreements. 

Due to Defendants’ breach, Plaintiffs performed or were excused from performing their obligations 

under the contracts. 

231. Defendants breached the terms of said agreements on multiple occasions by 
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charging Plaintiffs additional rental payments in violation of their HAP Contracts, including 

Section 5(e) of Part C of the Tenancy Addendum to the HAP Contracts which provides: “The 

owner may not charge or accept, from the family or from any other source, any payment for rent of 

the unit in addition to the rent to owner. Rent to owner includes all housing services, maintenance, 

utilities and appliances to be provided and paid by the owner in accordance with the lease.” 

232. As a result of Defendants’ conduct, Plaintiffs suffered damages including 

overpayment of rent, out of pocket expenses, physical and mental discomfort, and other damages to 

be ascertained at trial. 

233. Wherefore Plaintiffs pray for the damages stated below. 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION  
CONSUMERS LEGAL REMEDIES ACT  

CALIFORNIA CIVIL CODE § 1750 
(All Plaintiffs v. All Defendants) 

234. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate into this cause of action the allegations of 

paragraphs 1 through 233, as if the same were set out at length herein. 

235. This cause of action is brought pursuant to the Consumers Legal Remedies Act 

California Civil Code section 1750 (“CLRA”). 

236. The CLRA has adopted a comprehensive statutory scheme prohibiting various 

deceptive practices in connection with the conduct of a business providing goods, property or services 

to consumers primarily for personal, family, or household purposes. 

237. Each of the Defendants is a “person” as defined by Civil Code section 1761(c) 

because each is a corporation. 

238. Plaintiffs and Class members are “consumers” within the meaning of Civil Code 

section 1761(d) because they are individuals who leased rental property from Defendants for 

personal or household use. 

239. Defendants’ leasing of rental property is a “service” within the meaning of 

California Civil Code section 1761(b). 

240. Plaintiffs’ and Class members’ payments for the services of Defendants are 

“transactions” as defined by Civil Code section 1761(e), because Defendants entered into 
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agreements to provide those services in exchange for Plaintiffs’ and Class members’ monetary 

compensation. 

241. Plaintiffs have standing to pursue this claim as they have suffered injury in fact and 

have lost money as a result of Defendants’ actions as set forth herein. 

242. Plaintiffs and Class members reviewed, believed, and relied upon the statements 

made by Defendants, including omissions of fact, that Defendants were lawfully entitled to demand 

and collect additional rental amounts, or “side payments,” in excess of the tenants’ portions of the 

rent provided in the relevant HAP Contracts. These statements and omissions include (1) 

Defendants’ affirmative misrepresentations that they would not collect amounts beyond the 

contract rent permitted for Plaintiffs’ and Class members’ respective Section 8 apartments, as set 

forth in the HAP Contracts including Section 5(e) of Part C of the Tenancy Addendums to the 

Terry and Huskey III HAP Contracts, (2) Defendants’ omission to explain in the course of 

collecting “side payments” from Plaintiffs and Class members that such payments constitute a 

violation of the Section 8 program. 

243. Defendants’ misrepresentations and concealment were made with knowledge of 

their likely effect on tenants, as members of the general public, and were done to induce Plaintiffs 

and Class members to enter into their Section 8 HAP Contracts and to pay additional rental 

amounts, or “side payments,” in excess of the tenants’ portion of the rent as provided in the 

relevant HAP Contracts. Plaintiffs reviewed the provisions identified above and justifiably relied 

on Defendants’ misrepresentations when entering into their Section 8 HAP Contracts and paying 

these excess rental amounts. Further, when Plaintiffs paid the “side payments” requested by 

Defendants, they relied on Defendants’ omission to explain that such “side payments” are 

prohibited by applicable Section 8 rules and regulations, and their HAP Contracts. 

244. As set forth above, Defendants violated and continue to violate the CLRA by 

engaging in practices proscribed by California Civil Code section l 770(a)(2) in transactions with 

Plaintiffs and Class members, by misrepresenting their approval to demand and collect additional 

rental amounts, or “side payments,” by HUD and local public housing agencies. 

245. Plaintiffs seek an order enjoining the act and practices described above, restitution 
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of property, and any other injunctive or equitable relief that the Court deems proper. 

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION  
UNFAIR BUSINESS PRACTICES 

CALIFORNIA BUSINESS & PROFESSIONS CODE §§ 17200 ET SEQ. 
(All Plaintiffs v. All Defendants) 

246. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate into this cause of action the allegations of 

paragraphs 1 through 245, as if the same were set out at length herein. 

247. California Business and Professions Code section 17200 prohibits acts of “unfair 

competition,” including any “unlawful, unfair, or fraudulent business act or practice.” 

248. Defendants have engaged in unfair, unlawful, and fraudulent business acts or 

practices as described in this Complaint, including, but not limited to, unlawfully demanding and 

collecting additional rental amounts, or “side payments,” in excess of Plaintiffs’ portions of the rent 

under the relevant HAP Contracts. 

249. As discussed in more detail above, Defendants’ policy of demanding and collecting 

these additional side payments is unlawful, unfair, and/or fraudulent in that it violates the relevant 

HAP Contracts and at least the following laws: 

i. Section 8 program statutes and regulations, 42 U.S.C. § 1437f and 24 C.F.R. 
Part 982; 

ii. False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. §§ 3729 et seq.; 
iii. California Civil Code section 1750; 
iv. California Civil Code Section 3300. 

250. Defendants’ practices, as set forth herein, also constitute “unfair” business acts and 

practices within the meaning of California Business and Professions Code section 17200, because 

(1) their conduct offended public policy, including the public polices furthered by the Section 8 

program for the benefit of low-income tenants, (2) was unethical and unscrupulous, and (3) any 

alleged benefits from Defendants’ conduct are outweighed by the injuries caused to Plaintiffs, Class 

members, and the general public. 

251. There were reasonable alternatives available to Defendants to further Defendants’ 

legitimate business interests, other than the conduct described herein. 

Case 2:15-cv-00799-KJM-DB   Document 136   Filed 08/17/21   Page 44 of 215



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

 

 

43 
FIFTH AMENDED COMPLAINT - CASE NO. 2:15-CV-00799 KJM-DB 

830228.4 

252. California Business and Professions Code section 17200 also prohibits any 

“fraudulent business act or practice.” 

253. Defendants’ material misrepresentations, and concealment and omission of material 

facts, as set forth above, were false, misleading, and/or likely to deceive the public within the 

meaning of California Business and Professions Code section 17200. These “fraudulent” acts 

include (1) Defendants’ affirmative misrepresentations that they would not collect amounts beyond 

the contract rent permitted for Plaintiffs’ and Class members’ respective Section 8 apartments, as 

set forth in the HAP Contracts including Section 5(e) of Part C of the Tenancy Addendums to the 

Terry and Huskey III HAP Contracts, (2) Defendants’ omission to explain in the course of 

collecting “side payments” from Plaintiffs and Class members that such payments constitute a 

violation of the Section 8 program. 

254. Defendants’ misrepresentations and concealment were made with knowledge of 

their likely effect on tenants, as members of the general public, and were done to induce Plaintiffs 

and Class members to enter into their Section 8 HAP Contracts and to pay additional rental 

amounts, or “side payments,” in excess of the tenants’ portion of the rent as provided in the 

relevant HAP Contracts. Plaintiffs reviewed the provisions identified above and justifiably relied 

on Defendants’ misrepresentations when entering into their Section 8 HAP Contracts and paying 

these excess rental amounts. Further, when Plaintiffs paid the “side payments” requested by 

Defendants, they relied on Defendants’ omission to explain that such “side payments” are 

prohibited by applicable Section 8 rules and regulations, and their HAP Contracts. 

255. To this day, Defendants continue to violate the Unfair Business Practices Act by 

continuing to demand and collect additional rental amounts, or “side payments,” in excess of the 

tenants’ portion of the rent as provided in the relevant HAP Contracts. 

256. As a direct and proximate cause of Defendants’ violation of the Unfair Business 

Practices Act, Plaintiffs and Class members have suffered injury in fact and actual damages. 

257. As a proximate result of Defendants’ violation of the California Business and 

Professions Code section 17200, Defendants have been unjustly enriched and should be required to 

make restitution to Plaintiffs and Class members or disgorge their ill-gotten profits pursuant to 
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Business and Professions Code section 17203. 

258. Defendants’ conduct, as described above, violates California Business and 

Professions Code section 17200 and entitles Plaintiffs and Class members to restitution and 

injunctive relief. 

259. In addition, pursuant to California Business and Professions Code section 17203, 

Plaintiffs, both individually and on behalf of the Class, seek an order of this Court requiring 

Defendants to immediately cease such acts of unfair competition and enjoining Defendants from 

continuing to conduct business via the unlawful, fraudulent or unfair business acts and practices 

complained of herein and from failing to fully disclose the true nature of their misrepresentations. 

260. Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and all others similarly situated, further request 

injunctive relief in the form of restitution and disgorgement and all other relief allowed under 

section 17200, plus interest, attorneys’ fees, and costs pursuant to, inter alia, California Code of 

Civil Procedure section 1021.5. 

REQUEST FOR JURY TRIAL 

261. Plaintiffs request a trial by jury of all issues which may be tried by a jury pursuant to 

Rule 38 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

262. Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and the Class, and the United States of America 

respectfully request that the Court order the following relief: 

i. Certify the Class and appoint Plaintiffs as representatives of the Class. 

ii. Certify the undersigned counsel as Class Counsel. 

iii. Declare that Defendants’ policy of demanding and/or collecting from their 

Section 8 tenants additional rent payments, in excess of the tenants’ portion of 

the contract rent in the relevant HAP Contracts, is unlawful. 

iv. Require Defendants, at their own cost, to notify all Class members of the alleged 

violations discussed herein. 

v. Enjoin Defendants from continuing to demand or collect from their Section 8 

tenants any rent payments in excess of the tenants’ portion of the contract rent in 
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the relevant HAP Contracts. 

vi. Enjoin Defendants also from any attempts to evict their Section 8 tenants based 

on any alleged failure to pay any of these unlawful demands for additional rent. 

vii. Find that Defendants violated the False Claims Act and are liable to the United 

States of America. 

viii. Assess a civil penalty against Defendants for each separate violation of the False 

Claims Act, in an amount of not less than $5,000 or more than $10,000. 

ix. Award the United States three times the amount of damages that it sustained as a 

result of the Defendants’ acts. 

x. Award Plaintiffs the qui tam Plaintiffs’ share of the proceeds. 

xi. Award Plaintiff United States of America and qui tam Plaintiffs costs and 

reasonable attorneys’ fees pursuant to contract and the False Claims Act. 

xii. Order Defendants to cease and desist from violating the False Claims Act.  

xiii. Find that Defendants, by breaching the relevant HAP Contracts and Tenancy 

Addendums, breached their residential lease agreements with Plaintiffs and Class 

members. 

xiv. Find that Defendants violated the California Consumers Legal Remedies Act. 

xv. Find that Defendants violated the California Unfair Business Practices Act. 

xvi. Award treble damages according to proof for each cause of action. 

xvii. Award general damages according to proof for each cause of action. 

xviii. Award compensatory damages for losses resulting from humiliation, mental 

anguish, and emotional distress according to proof. 

xix. Award incidental expenses, past, present and future. 

xx. Award interest on the amount of losses incurred at the prevailing legal rate. 

xxi. Award statutory penalties. 

xxii. Award such other and further relief which this Court deems just and proper. 
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